TALLINN UNIVERSITY OF TECHNOLOGY School of Business and Governance Department of Law

Netta Annika Konki

THE RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN POLITICAL REGIMES AND FOREIGN DIRECT INVESTMENT

Bachelor's Thesis

Programme International Relations

Supervisor: Ton Notermans

Tallinn 2017

I declare that I have compiled the paper independently and all works, important standpoints and data by other authors have been properly referenced and the same paper has not been previously been presented for grading. The document length is 11954 words from the introduction to the end of summary.

Netta Annika Konki

(signature, date) Student code: 144990TASB Student e-mail address: netta.kon@gmail.com

Supervisor: Ton Notermans The paper conforms to requirements in force

.....

(signature, date)

Chairman of the Defence Committee: James Thurlow Permitted to the defence

······

(name, signature, date)

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ABSTRACT	4
INTRODUCTION	5
1. THEORETHICAL APPROACHES TO THE RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN REGINAND FOREIGN DIRECT INVESTMENT	
1.1 The Motivations for Multinational Corporations to Engage in Foreign Direct Investment	10
1.2 Why would Democracy Foster Foreign Direct Investment?	12
1.2.1 The Profitability of Foreign Direct Investment under Different Political Regimes	
1.2.2 Democracies offer Stability and Credibility for the Foreign Direct Investments	
1.2.3 Representation of Interests, Openness and Transparency in Democratic Regimes	14
1.3 How would an Authoritarian Regime Foster Foreign Direct Investment	15
1.3.1 Authoritarian States Offering Credible Stability for Foreign Direct Investments	15
1.3.2 The Incentives for Multinational Corporations to Collude with Authoritarian States	16
1.3.3 Representation of Interests and Transparency in Authoritarian Regimes	17
2. EMPIRICAL APPROACHES TO THE RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN REGIMES A	ND
FOREIGN DIRECT INVESTMENT	19
2.1 Negative Correlation Between Foreign Direct Investment and Democracy	19
2.1.1 Empirical Evidence that There is Greater Rate of Return for Investments in Authoritarian Countries	
2.1.2 Empirical Evidence that Suggest the Relationship Between Foreign Direct Investment and Democracy Ambiguous	is
2.2 Positive Correlation between Foreign Direct Investment and Democracy	21
2.2.1 Empirical Evidence Suggesting More Foreign Direct Investments is Directed to Democracies Because	
the Preference of the Electorate	
2.2.2 Empirical Evidence Suggesting Incentives are Not a Main Concern for Multinational Enterprises	22
3. CASE STUDY OF CHINA AND INDIA	23
3.1 The Development of Foreign Direct Investment in China and India	24
3.1.1 The Development of Foreign Direct Investment in India	
3.1.2 The Development of Foreign Direct Investment in China	
3.2 How are Private Property Protection, Incentives, Credibility and Representation of Interests Facilita	ted
in India and China?	
3.2.1 Tangible and Intangible Private Property Protection in India and China	
3.2.2 The Credibility of China and India as Recipients of Foreign Direct Investment	
3.2.3 The Incentives Provided by India and China	
3.2.4 The Representation of Interests in India and China	33
CONCLUSIONS	35
	25
LIST OF REFERENCES	

ABSTRACT

The aim of this paper is to examine the relationship between foreign direct investment and regime type more closely. The principal research questions of this paper are – Do democratic states attract more FDI, or does FDI prefer non-democratic regimes? What are the leading arguments and theories on the subject matter, how do they contradict each other and why? The review of the secondary sources shows that the existing theoretical and empirical discussion is inconclusive, because it fails to account for unique spatial and temporal details, rendering the theories mere generalizations. To offer a more appropriate method, the paper applies a most-similar case design to a comparison of China and India in terms of how they attract and foster FDI. The sources used in the case study include official government sources of India and China and international databases. The key finding of this paper is that what matters more for FDI is policy instead of polity. Authoritarian or democratic regimes may utilize different policies to attract and foster FDI, and the implementation of said policies is what matters. Existing theoretical and empirical literature may provide useful suggestions; however, the findings of this paper challenge the idea that the relationship between FDI and regime type is clear-cut.

Keywords: Foreign Direct Investment, Multinational Corporations, China, India

INTRODUCTION

There is an idea especially in the western world that democracy is a good way to organize a polity. Democratic practices ensure that the electorate may freely partake in political decision-making, for instance through voting or running in elections. Furthermore, separation of powers and civil liberties, at least in theory, ensure accountability and transparency of the system. The concept of Good Governance was coined by international institutions, such as the United Nations (UN, 2009), and it essentially advocates liberal democratic practices to be applied across nations to ensure the effectiveness and fairness of political institutions. On the other hand, Good Governance has also been linked with economic development – the International Monetary Fund (IMF) loan conditionality includes Good Governance clauses, namely "ensuring the rule of law, improving the efficiency and accountability of the public sector and tackling corruption" (IMF, 2005). Hence, there is a conception that democracy makes countries prosper not only politically but also economically.

However, these claims are challenged by looking at real life examples such as China. It is an authoritarian one party system whose institutions and decision-making lack transparency, while civil liberties are limited. Yet the country has been able to sustain phenomenal economic growth ever since it started to open up to the global economy in the 70's. The Chinese experience challenges the idea that democracy would best provide conditions in which economies develop and prosper. This contradiction is of profound importance especially for developing countries that are formulating policies on how to best achieve growth.

Theories and international institutions support the idea that foreign direct investment (FDI) is a key component of economic development (UNCTAD, 1999). The importance of FDI for developed and developing countries alike is apparent in the way that many countries implement FDI friendly policies, while competition for it has been fierce. The question then becomes, what is the relationship between FDI and democracy? Do democratic regimes also provide for the best possible conditions for foreign investment? The answer to this question is not that straight forward, when one consults the theories and empirics relating to the issue.

Some theories posit that foreign investors are attracted to democracies because they have independent and strong judiciaries which help to secure property rights, which in turn promote investments (Olson, 1993, 572). Furthermore, the checks and balances of democratic regimes provide for accountability and transparency, which convince investors of a stable investment climate (Jensen, 2006, 81). These arguments seem logically sound, yet competing theories argue that authoritarian regimes can provide for an equally attractive investment climate. For instance, it is in the interest of the MNCs to have a monopolistic position in the markets to secure a higher rate of returns. This imperfect market position can be offered by authoritarian states, because there is a lack of checks and balances and accountability to the electorate (O'Neal, 1994, 582). Furthermore, the lack of checks and balances may enable the states to organize institutions and policies flexibly and quickly to support MNCs and their long-term investments. In addition to the vast theoretical discussion, multiple empirical studies have been conducted to pin down the correlation between FDI and regime type, only to provide equally inconclusive findings.

Given that the existing theoretical and empirical discussion is inconclusive, the objective of this paper is to examine the relationship between FDI and regime type more closely. The principal research questions of this paper are – Do democratic states attract more FDI, or does FDI prefer non-democratic regimes? What are the leading arguments and theories on the subject matter, how do they contradict each other and why? Is there a more appropriate method to study and understand the relationship between FDI and regime type?

This paper is a part of a larger research project conducted by the author, which in addition to the findings discussed here, concludes through a methodological critique, that the theoretical and empirical studies on the subject matter suffer from serious shortcomings. The empirical studies struggle with data accuracy and controlling for the dependent and independent variables. Furthermore, there are issues with the conceptualizations made regarding the core concepts. Democracy has been conceptualised through thin and thick definitions. Thin definitions argue that there are less attributes that need to be reached to deem a regime democratic, whereas a thick definition requires more categories to be fulfilled. Depending on whether the utilised definition is a thin or a thick one, it may sway the theorists' study and thus also the results greatly.

Additionally, the existing theories have largely overlooked the historical changes in relation to how MNCs operate. Dörrenbächer and Geppert summarise these changes by stating: "Taking a post-millennium perspective, tremendous changes in the world of the MNCs become visible. Changes extend to the socio-political and economic environment of the MNCs, the types of MNCs either entering or dominating the scene as well as the mode by which these companies operate." (2017, 5-6). MNCs' goals and objectives as well as how they operate evolve constantly, and thus the preferences for the host country policy atmosphere must be in a similar flux. Most theories fail to account for said changes, empirical models by compiling data over decades and not accounting for the changing objectives and preferences, and theories by making the assumption that MNCs operate in a uniform way.

The structure of this paper is such that in the first two sections, the relevant theories and empirical models will be analyzed. The literature review provides an overview of the main arguments and reveals the inconclusiveness of the discussion. Resulting from the extensive criticism conducted on the theoretical and empirical literature in the framework of the wider research project, this paper proposes an alternative way to study the relationship. To offer a more appropriate method, the third section of this paper applies a most-similar case design to a comparison of China and India in terms of how they attract and foster FDI. A most-similar case design is applicable, because the countries have attributes which foreign investors find attractive, including large market size and rapid economic development. However, China is a socialist regime with authoritarian characteristics, whereas India maintains a liberal democracy. The case study conducted on these two countries provides for interesting results, that point to the fact that political regime is not perhaps the most important issue to consider in what comes to the relationship between FDI and states. Finally, the last part of the paper concludes and advances some suggestions for further research. The sources used in this paper include theoretical and empirical secondary sources, official government sources of India and China and international databases, such as those of the World Bank, Freedom House and the United Nations.

The key argument in this paper is that the theoretical and empirical literature is trying to portray a complex relationship in too simplistic terms. Therefore, what should be done instead is to individually study each regime and the FDI it attracts, accounting for the unique historical, economic and political characteristics. When this method is used to analyze the relationship, it should not come as a surprise that there can be no straightforward answer to the question of how the political regimes affect investment decisions.

The key finding of this paper is that what matters most for FDI is policy instead of polity. Authoritarian or democratic regimes can utilize a range of policies to attract and foster FDI, and the implementation of said policies is what matters. Since there is questionable correlation between policy and regime type, it is thus not surprising that a clear correlation between FDI and regime type does not exist. This finding emerged from the most-similar case design comparison conducted of China and India. Both states utilize a range of different policies to attract FDI, and in the end their implementation has been more successful in China, a regime that happens to be characterized by authoritarian elements. In some other case, perhaps a democratic regime has been more successful in implementing policies to attract FDI. What follows from this finding is that one should not make assumptions based on regime type alone, but thorough research needs to be conducted to identify how the policies are implemented and constrained in the unique political environment of the state. The findings of this paper add to the existing literature by challenging the theoretical and empirical models which for decades have attempted to find clear-cut answers to the question of how the regime type affects foreign investment decisions.

1. THEORETHICAL APPROACHES TO THE RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN REGIMES AND FOREIGN DIRECT INVESTMENT

One of the driving forces behind the globalized economy is the significant increase in FDI. FDI, as defined by the OECD Benchmark Definition "…reflects the objective of establishing a lasting interest by a resident enterprise in one economy (direct investor) in an enterprise (direct investment enterprise) that is resident in an economy other than that of the direct investor. The lasting interest implies the existence of a long-term relationship between the direct investor and the direct investment enterprise and a significant degree of influence on the management of the enterprise" (OECD, 2008, 46). The difference of FDI and Foreign Portfolio Investments (FPI), is that a FDI investor has active control over the enterprise, it is a long-term investment and less liquid than FPI.

According to the World Bank (WB), FDI has increased from over ten billion dollars in the 1970's, up to \$1.7 trillion in 2016 (World Bank, 2016a). Most FDI is directed towards the more developed countries. The European Union attracts the most, second being the United States and the United Kingdom being third (Central Intelligence Agency, 2017b). On the other hand, developing economies comprise half of the top ten economies to which FDI is directed (UNCTAD, 2017a, 12). Figure 1 illustrates the global inflows of FDI to countries grouped according to their level of development, from 2005 to 2016.



Figure 1. Global inflows of FDI by group Source: UNCTAD (2017a, 2)

1.1 The Motivations for Multinational Corporations to Engage in Foreign Direct Investment

There is a fair degree of consensus amongst scholars, that the general motive for Multinational Corporations (MNCs) to engage in FDI is to gain profit. Dunning and Lundan's (2008, 67-73) arguments are often cited in the relevant literature to describe these motivations. The four main drivers are natural resource seeking, market seeking, efficiency seeking and strategic asset or capability seeking. The natural resource seekers, as per their name, seek resources which may not be available anywhere else. This type of investment is known as vertical FDI. Secondly, the market seekers want to establish themselves locally because of the country's market size or for instance tariff jumping. Furthermore, at times a company needs a local presence to be able to compete with the domestic companies. This type of FDI is known as horizontal FDI.

Thirdly, the efficiency seekers want benefits, which result in their production activities being geographically dispersed – the benefits include for instance economies of scale. Companies might be interested in organizing some of their production in a specific country due to it being labor abundant, and some of the production would take place in more developed countries which would give support in terms of capital, technology or information. Finally, the strategic asset seekers choose to invest in a specific location to further their global foothold and competitiveness. The efficiency seekers are usually larger MNCs, which have a global presence and enjoy the benefits brought by experience and knowledge, which help them organize their activities efficiently and to fight off competition.

The objective of this paper is not to discuss in depth why FDI takes place, but to concentrate on the factors that affect its direction. To what extent is FDI affected by the political regime in the host country? Does a democracy make FDI more profitable, and if so, how? Let us imagine that a MNC has a few prospective countries to choose from. There are various points to consider as to how the most favorable conditions are met to attract FDI. In the following sections, those conditions will be discussed in terms of how they interact with democracy and non-democracy. Specifically, the relationship will be analyzed from the perspective of how well different regimes help support favorable conditions. These conditions are — stability, representation of interests and credibility of the institutions. These points were chosen for analysis because they are the key elements which recur in the theoretical and empirical discussions.

One may argue that MNCs in search of natural resources or large markets might not be interested in the host country's political environment, because the benefits of gaining the resources or entering large markets override possible negative effects of a specific political regime. However, the country's ability to provide a safe and stable environment for FDI is crucial, as the investments become vulnerable after is has been made. There are considerable sunk costs involved in FDI due to its illiquid nature. In the worst case, the host country may renege on the contracts after the deals have been made and to avoid this, MNCs logically would prefer to invest in a secure climate. Would a democratic state provide stability and secure investments more efficiently in comparison to a non-democratic one?

The credibility of the state is an important factor to consider for MNCs making investment decisions. Companies might not even approach countries that they deem lacking in credibility. The credibility in part also deals with stability and security of investments, since policy reversals might

not seem an issue if the country has a credible outlook. Hence the question in relation to the scope of this paper becomes – which type of regime is more capable of appearing credible to MNCs?

Representation of interests relates to the discussion in the way that MNCs logically would like to have a say in the policies of the recipient country. MNCs want to negotiate preferential investment deals, but they would also be interested in affecting the climate in the recipient country after the deals have been struck, to protect investments in the long-run. Representation of different actors' interests may be facilitated differently within democracies and non-democracies, the former providing many channels for participation, while the latter being more selective. What is the level of representation which would seem more attractive to the MNCs? Would the companies prefer a democracy, which is more open but where they would have to fight many competing voices, or would they prefer a non-democratic system, in which they might have a possibility to collude with the government while competing voices are suppressed?

1.2 Why would Democracy Foster Foreign Direct Investment?

1.2.1 The Profitability of Foreign Direct Investment under Different Political Regimes

The liberal school argues that individuals have a natural right to the fruits of their labor. Locke argued in the 17th century that with the right to property also comes great uncertainty and fear of thieving. The fear of others plundering one's property drives people to form societies to protect themselves. This view in more recent years has been repeated by Olson (1993), when he argues that citizens of a state are willing to give part of their income to a *stationary bandit*, who has a "monopoly on theft in his domain" (Olson, 1993, 568). The monopoly of theft would relate to taxation of the people by the authorities, in exchange for the desired peace, which protects peoples' property. When people feel that their property is safe from thieving, they will produce more because of the possibility to profit from their labour.

Secure property rights are of paramount interest to MNCs. Before an investment is made, the company holds bargaining power because they have many alternatives. After the investment has been made, however, there are sunk costs involved in the projects, as they are often made in illiquid assets, such new factories. It is much more difficult and costly for a company to relocate afterwards if the host state reneges on the contracts or proves to be in some other way opportunistic regarding the investment. This process has been coined "obsolescing bargain" by Vernon (1971). One of the

seminal theories relating to property rights protection, by North and Weingast (1989; 803), argues that to achieve economic growth and attract investment, states need to provide institutional support for property rights protection and most importantly, commit and not renege on the contracts. For our discussion, one could ask: Does democracy as a political system provide a safer environment for FDI against obsolescing bargaining? In the next section, the stability aspect of democracy is discussed.

1.2.2 Democracies offer Stability and Credibility for the Foreign Direct Investments

Defining democracy is a task for a separate paper, however in rudimentary terms it is a system characterised by procedures and institutions that offer citizens the possibility to express their wishes in terms of whom they want to lead them and how. There is a rotation of people in power due to the electoral processes, transparent institutions and separation of power between governmental bodies and the judiciary provide checks and balances, accountability and stability. To avoid obsolescing bargain, democracies provide stability for investments through impartial court system. It protects individuals' right to property, not only against violations by other individuals but neither can the government relapse on its contracts and promises because it is constrained by the law as well.

To be able to inspire confidence in MNCs, the recipient state needs to appear stable enough to provide protection for the investments in the long term. Jensen (2006) further argues that democracies' creditability is enhanced by the audience cost, according to which "...if governments make agreements with multi-national firms and renege on the contracts after the investment has been made, democratic leaders may suffer electoral costs. The potential for these electoral backlashes may constrain democratic leaders." (Jensen, 2006, 81) Through electoral cycles, politicians who are responsible for generating unsuccessful policies may be removed and replaced by others who would make more market-friendly decisions. Therefore, the politicians are constrained from turning opportunistic, as this might lead them to lose office.

On the other hand, in authoritarian regimes in which power is not dispersed, the state might relapse on its promises or contacts, since they can do so without having to answer to a judiciary. The intrinsic instability of an authoritarian regime, as argued by Olson (1993), does not only affect the decisions made by the MNCs, as the ones in power of the state might behave short-sightedly because of the instable conditions (Olson, 1993, 571). Authoritarian regimes can face domestic or foreign threats because of lack of consolidated power, and may only be interested in maximising personal gain for the power elite. The ones in power may not even be interested in providing stable long-term investment conditions in their country, if they do not see their regime surviving. In theory, those in power in authoritarian regimes are only accountable to the power elite, and would thus logically only serve the interests of the elite. Theoretically in democracies it would not be possible to have a ruling elite, which does not respect the wishes of the populace and is there to only serve itself.

1.2.3 Representation of Interests, Openness and Transparency in Democratic Regimes

In democracies citizens enjoy civil liberties. These liberties include freedom of association, press and speech and the opportunity to take part in, influence and pressure the political process through multiple channels. These channels include voting and running in elections, being part of interest groups or lobbyists, organising strikes and so forth. How this relates to MNCs is that they have the same right to take part in the political decision-making process. Investors may utilise direct or indirect political avenues to influence the democratic host countries to pursue policies which would help foster their investments. The effectiveness of MNCs' efforts will depend on the political influence they wield, in comparison to competing voices.

For any actor that wishes to influence the policies of a country, understanding of the political process and situation is vital. To bring about a change, one needs to comprehend the political culture and foresee possible future developments. To have the comprehension and expertise required, there needs to be transparency. Jensen (2006; 79) points out that the transparency which characterises democracies will encourage companies' decisions to invest. There is transparency in the decision-making process as well as the decisions which have been made. The transparency would lead one to deduce that there is accurate information available regarding the macroeconomic environment and how the government operates. This helps investors to react to future government policies as well as to formulate their lobbying schemes.

1.3 How would an Authoritarian Regime Foster Foreign Direct Investment

1.3.1 Authoritarian States Offering Credible Stability for Foreign Direct Investments

The previous section argued that democratic states, because of their checks and balances and impartial judiciary systems, offer a stable investment climate for MNCs. However, another set of attributes may be found in authoritarian regimes, which could provide a stable climate for foreign investments and promise profitability. After all, FDI does not only flow to democratic states, but also to non-democratic and transition regimes. This is apparent in the fact that China and the Russian Federation are amongst the top ten recipient countries of FDI inflows in 2016 (UNCTAD, 2017a, 12). These states can be characterised as lacking in democratic merit, pointing to the fact that they must offer credible stability somehow.

The theoretical literature argues that authoritarian regimes may choose to exploit their position of high control to foster FDI. According to O'Donnell (1978), an authoritarian state can provide a stable long-term investment climate by exerting strict and continuous control over civil society and economic policy, hampering domestic actors' ability to partake in decision-making. To support his argument, he argues that this has been the case in 1960's in several Latin American countries. He calls these states "bureaucratic-authoritarian" (BA) states (1978, 4). According to this line of thinking, if an authoritarian state wished to do so, it could commit to policies which favour foreign investments. However, as a counter reaction, it would repress domestic economic and political opportunities by excluding actors like labour unions from political and economic decision-making. This type of setting would indicate there is collusion between the power elite of the country and the MNC.

If one assumes that MNCs are only interested in maximising their profits, it would make sense that a collusion with a state would seem highly attractive. The company would be in a position in which it could affect the economic policies without having to face domestic competition. This type of collusion would not be sustainable in democracies, since through elections the ones in power would be removed by the discontented electorate. In democracies, those in power are forced to find a balance of sorts to please the domestic electorate while still reaping benefits from lucrative foreign investments. To achieve a state of collusion with investors and to convince them of the regime's longevity, the authoritarian state needs to appear credible. authoritarian states cannot enjoy similar credibility to that of a democratic one, because it concentrates power in the hands of the elite, instead of dispersing it amongst multiple institutions. Some theories provide an answer to this dilemma. For instance, O'Donnell (1978, 6) argues, that the very foundation of the BA is giving it the requisite creditability. The higher positions of power are filled with people who come from a background of bureaucratic institutions, for instance the armed forces or successful private firms. The leadership of the country seems competent and this would in turn spark confidence in the eyes of the foreign investors.

Furthermore, it can be argued that autocratic states are able to lengthen their horizons to attract the long-term investments. The fact that there are no checks and balances on the power of the elite, may prove to be an advantage. The ones in power can flexibly and quickly establish new institutions to support long-term investments, for instance institutions which would secure property rights. While establishing such institutions could restrain the power of the autocratic elite, the regime would seem more stable and credible. It may be asked why an autocratic country would decide to redistribute power, and risk the elite's power within the state? Moon (2015, 353) argues that autocratic states realise the benefits of giving protection to long-term investments, because they yield more profit in the long term. Hence, they will not relapse into predatory behaviour and expropriate. The possibility of gaining from long-term investments works as an incentive to the power elite.

1.3.2 The Incentives for Multinational Corporations to Collude with Authoritarian States

In the beginning of the paper it was discussed that MNCs engage in FDI for instance due to strategic reasons (Dunning and Lundan, 2008, 73). These MNCs were recognised to be usually of large size and of a high level of competitiveness. It would thus make sense, especially for those companies who possess a lot of market power, to try and establish a strategic monopoly position in the recipient country, to yield more revenue. Li And Resnick (2003) go so far as to argue that "... the weaker the host country's democratic institutions, the less likely the host government is to limit the monopoly or oligopoly position of the MNCs" (2003, 183).

In addition to letting companies exploit monopolistic positions, an authoritarian regime could also provide MNCs with financial incentives, for instance tax breaks. While the incentives will seem favourable to the MNCs, they may hurt domestic actors, for instance by being driven out of the markets because they cannot compete with the subsidised or oligopolistic foreign ventures. In effect, the selective incentives would lead to a two-tier economy, where MNCs are the winners and domestic actors the losers. Li and Resnick argue that "... Compared with more autocratic countries, more democratic host governments have a harder time obtaining the acquiescence of opposing domestic interests to the provision of generous incentives to foreign capital" (2003, 184). They seem to argue that the authoritarian regime can do things which the democratic one could not. In this line of thinking, the very features that made democratic regimes attractive to MNCs – checks and balances, impartial courts and recurring elections – would lead the country into having fewer tools to attract FDI.

1.3.3 Representation of Interests and Transparency in Authoritarian Regimes

Representation of interests in a democracy was argued to be of benefit also to the MNCs, since amongst other actors, they could utilise lobbying schemes to influence policies, or try to influence the policy makers, for instance by mobilising their workforce. However, this argument can be looked at from a different perspectiv. The fact that there are many actors within a democratic state who can influence the political process, may prove to be a hindrance to the MNCs' efforts. The MNCs' power to influence political decisions is diluted and challenged by domestic actors, and it is largely up to the state to choose which actors to listen to. Li and Resnick (2003) point out that more often than not, domestic actors' goals contrast the MNCs' preferred goals concerning financial and economic policy, forcing the government to "cushion the blow to domestic losers by subsidizing less competitive indigenous firms, imposing more restrictive entry conditions on MNCs such as joint ownership, limiting the sectors open to foreign capital...". (2003, 183) This in turn could lead to reducing the "MNC's degree of control over its overseas production and weaken its competitiveness" (Li and Resnick, 2003, 183).

Lobbying through political channels is a legal way to influence the policy-making process, however one should not overlook the fact that there are illegal ways for MNCs to influence policymakers, like bribery. Due to the freedom of expression and uncensored media in democracies, there is a watchdog on the government which monitors the officials. Corrupt acts may be called out in the media, after which the perpetrators would have to face consequences, for

instance renouncement of position. On the other hand, in authoritarian countries the ones in power practically answer only to themselves and have control over the civil society and media, therefore MNCs have an opportunity to use illegal means of influence.

2. EMPIRICAL APPROACHES TO THE RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN REGIMES AND FOREIGN DIRECT INVESTMENT

The theoretical discussion of the relationship between FDI and regime type is inconclusive to say the least. The theories give weight to different arguments and offer logical conclusions whether one or the other type of regime is more attractive for MNCs. It is fair to see that there are negative and positive effects which democracy or non-democracy may impose on FDI, but without empirical studies, one cannot say for sure which overpowers the other. Hence, this paper will turn to look at the empirical literature which has been conducted to find correlations between regime types and FDI. This part of the paper is organized so that first the negative correlations found between democracy and FDI will be discussed, followed by the positive correlations. Much like in the theoretical review, it will become apparent that the empirical studies are equally contradictory and have a difficult time in pinning down comprehensive answers to our research questions.

2.1 Negative Correlation Between Foreign Direct Investment and Democracy

2.1.1 Empirical Evidence that There is Greater Rate of Return for Investments in Authoritarian Countries

One of the earliest and most recognized quantitative works dealing with our subject matter is O'Neal's (1994) regression analysis of 48 different countries at different levels of development, covering the years from 1950 to 1985. The study is interesting because it takes O'Donnell's theory of the BA, and tries to see whether it would hold. O'Donnell's theory entailed that foreign companies are attracted to authoritarian regimes, because of the possibility of exploitation of monopolistic positions and financial incentives in the host countries, which would yield them higher returns than in democratic states.

O'Neal's (1994, 571-582) study looks at the amount of FDI that has been directed from the U.S. to the sample countries, while taking into consideration the whole of FDI which the U.S. gives in a year. The second variable he studied was the profitability from these investments, while accounting for global business cycles and trends. Through the analysis, it became apparent that the flow of investments has been higher to democratic countries but the relationship is not significant.

On the other hand, the profitability of the investments has been higher in authoritarian regimes. The results of the empirical study go to show that according to this data, specific time span and selected countries, regime type is insignificant.

O'Neal's empirical analysis seems to provide a general answer to the question whether regime type influences the rate of returns. On the other hand, later studies have provided more insight to the complex relationship. Davis and Shomade's (2005) empirical analysis indicates that as democratization first happens in a country, the returns are much higher for MNCs, however through time after the country becomes more democratic, the rate diminishes and becomes negative (2005, 19). The change in the profitability may be explainable by the fact that as countries democratize, new regulations are introduced which raise costs for the firms. This empirical study, in addition to O'Neal's, indicate that autocracies or states in early stages of democracy could be more attractive, at least profit wise.

2.1.2 Empirical Evidence that Suggest the Relationship Between Foreign Direct Investment and Democracy is Ambiguous

Some empirical studies have taken as a starting point the fact that there is no consensus amongst the theories about the relationship between FDI and political regimes and ambiguous results are to be expected. Li and Resnick (2003, 188) built their quantitative study on 53 developing countries, from 1982 to 1995. Their hypothesis was that democracy affects FDI in complex ways, but the negative effects overrule the positive ones. The thesis proved to be right as the results showed that FDI inflows increase with higher levels of democracy because it would also mean a higher level of property rights protection. However, after controlling the effect of the property rights aspect, democracy had a negative correlation with FDI (Li & Resnick, 2003, 203). This finding supports the idea that given that authoritarian regimes provide for property protection, they are may be attractive to MNCs as well.

Li and Resnick studied developing countries specifically. From their findings one may deduce that amongst developing countries, the authoritarian regimes have an advantage in terms of attracting more FDI. Jessup (1999) supported this argument, as according to his empirical findings democratic countries have been losing market share, and developing authoritarian states have been receiving more U.S. investments in the past few decades (Jessup, 1999, 20). From these empirical models one may deduct, given that the authoritarian countries attract more FDI in comparison to the more democratic ones, they may also have an opportunity to develop at a brisker pace. Of

course, this logic will hold only if there exists a positive correlation between the level of FDI and economic growth. Recent empirical models have indeed recognized a positive correlation between the two (Alfaro et al., 2004). If democracies and hence also less developed democracies are gaining less FDI, there might be an incentive on their part to turn to authoritarian practices to compete for FDI.

2.2 Positive Correlation between Foreign Direct Investment and Democracy

2.2.1 Empirical Evidence Suggesting More Foreign Direct Investments is Directed to Democracies Because of the Preference of the Electorate

Jakobsen and De Soysa (2006, 384) argue in their empirical model that democracies are more attractive for MNCs to invest in, because the electorate is actively trying to attract FDI. The argument follows the same logic regarding free trade (e.g. Milner and Kubota, 2005). Free trade takes place between democratic countries, because the majority of the electorate prefers it. Hence, as majority of the electorate in a democracy prefers FDI activities, the MNCs are encouraged to invest and they are provided with a supportive climate in the host economy. According to this logic, the empirical results should reveal a higher level of FDI in democracies.

Jakobsen and De Soysa (2006) repeated a similar empirical model to that of Li and Resnick's, who concluded that democracy has a significant negative correlation with the level of FDI. The novelty of Jakobsen and De Soysa study is that they increased the sample by 46 countries and expanded the time period up to 2001. They argue that there are serious shortcomings in the Li & Resnick study, and that it was skewed by sample bias and weak variables. The results of the Jakobsen and De Soysa study supported their thesis – there was a positive and significant correlation between democratic developing countries and FDI. They claim that in contrast to the argument of Li and Resnick, that MNCs would "punish democracies", democracies instead inherently welcome it because the populace prefers it (Jakobsen & De Soysa, 2006, 404). This specific theory shines some light to the difficulties related to econometric studies in general – sample bias and size may very easily affect the results and skew them.

2.2.2 Empirical Evidence Suggesting Incentives are Not a Main Concern for Multinational Enterprises

Earlier in this paper, financial and fiscal incentives were recognised to be a policy more readily available to autocracies due to there being fewer veto-players and the ruling elite may only be pressured by the markets and not by the electorate. Jensen (2006) based his quantitative study on the point of view that the incentives have largely been overemphasised and that the race to the bottom with the help of the incentives has become a cliché without actual merit to it (Jensen, 2006, 54). His study revealed that there is little evidence that a country's fiscal policy would influence the level of FDI (Jensen, 2006, 67). Jensen provided further evidence to corroborate his findings – he interviewed MNCs, tax consultants and investment promotion officials whether fiscal incentives are amongst the primary determinants when decisions are made regarding investment locations. The interviewees did not deem incentives to be amongst the important determinants for the decisions (Jensen, 2006, 69).

In practice, the financial incentives could take the form of low wages in the host country. The theoretical argument goes that MNCs would be attracted to locations with low wages because it improves the profitability of their investments. It is however questionable whether the MNCs would only be interested in maximising profits. Where O'Neal and Davis & Shomade found that profitability is greater in authoritarian regimes, other quantitative studies have shown that it is not a primary interest for the investors. Graham (2000) studied the relationship between the level of income in host countries of FDI and the amount of U.S. investment in the late 90's and early 00's, to conclude that the investments were not systematically directed towards low-income countries, but rather to rich countries where the cost of labour was same, or in some cases, even higher than in the U.S. (Graham, 2000, 112). These findings challenge the argument that the prospect of saving on costs would primarily drive investment decisions, which also implies that authoritarian countries would not be especially competitive to MNCs, given they would employ these tactics.

3. CASE STUDY OF CHINA AND INDIA

In this chapter, a comparative case study will be conducted of China and India. The two countries can provide interesting results for our subject matter. China is a socialist regime with authoritarian characteristics, whereas India maintains a liberal democracy, being the largest of its kind in the world. The case study should reveal how the theories and empirical findings of scholars would apply to the two politically contrasting states. The comparison enquires about how these states provide stability to protect private property rights, how credible they seem, what the level of representation of interests is, and finally, what incentives they provide taking into consideration their respective political institutions and capabilities. The novelty of the case study lies in the fact that it will fill some of the gaps in the existing literature. There is a high degree of temporal and spatial sensitivity to the relationship between FDI and political regimes and this was largely dismissed in most studies since they often tried to provide a general theory. Hence, the case study will look more closely at the development of FDI in each country, the preferences of different kinds of MNCs and the perception the state itself has of FDI.

There are a few factors which make the two countries appropriate to be contrasted in a case study. China and India are amongst the first countries which come to mind when one thinks of large markets. They are geographic, demographic and economic giants. By GDP, China is the world's second largest economy and India the seventh largest (World Bank, 2016b). By population, China is the largest and India a close second (Central Intelligence Agency, 2017a). Hence, both countries can certainly seem attractive to investors, according to the market potential and purchasing power they project. Secondly, the two countries' economies have experienced rapid development ever since they started to open their markets to international trade through more liberal policies, China since the 1970's and India in the late 80's.

As can be seen from GDP levels, China has surpassed India while India has been experiencing more moderate growth, yet both countries still tell a story of rapid economic development over just a few decades. Growing markets would also logically attract FDI into both countries. Furthermore, both of them proved to be quite resilient to the economic crisis which hit most of the globe in 2008. The similarities of the two countries should minimize some of the problems which arise when comparing the level of FDI in different countries, thus most-similar case design is appropriate to be used here.

3.1 The Development of Foreign Direct Investment in China and India

Over recent years, the level of FDI inflow to China and India has been high when compared to the rest of the world. In 2016, both countries were in the top ten destinations for FDI inflows, China being the third and India the ninth (UNCTAD, 2017a, 12). In 2016, China attracted \$170 557 million and India \$44 458 million of FDI (OECD, 2017a). China has in fact attracted more FDI than India over the past decade, as is shown in Figure 2. Significant inflows of FDI started earlier in China, after they started to introduce economic reforms in 1978. On the other hand, it was only in the beginning of the 90's when India reformed its economy with the help of the IMF to be able to deal with severe balance of payments issues. Both countries have been gradual in their reforms, liberalising in a pragmatic manner, instead of employing shock-therapy as has been the case in post-Soviet states. In the next sub-sections, the development of FDI in the two countries will be analysed. A historical account of the liberalisation of economy in both countries will be provided first, to acknowledge the significant changes in the attitudes of the policymakers regarding FDI.



Figure 2. FDI inflows to India and China 2005-2016 Source: OECD, 2017a

3.1.1 The Development of Foreign Direct Investment in India

Before the liberalisation of markets gradually started in India in the 90's, the economy was largely closed-off from international trade. After gaining independence in 1947, the country adopted socialist-inspired policies to rebuild its economy towards self-sufficiency after being under the rule of the British for centuries. The economy relied on central planning, the currency was inconvertible and there were considerable barriers to imports. The growth rate of India at the time was modest at around 3%, and has been coined with the term "Hindu rate of growth" by Raj Krishna (Rodrik and Subramanian, 2004, 1). Nevertheless, scholars have pointed out that while economic development in India was modest, it was ordinary when compared to the rest of the world (DeLong, 2001, 2). Balance of payments problems started to accumulate in the 1980's, fuelled by the deterioration of the USSR and the peak in oil prices caused by the Gulf War. In the beginning of the 90's India was close to bankruptcy. The country turned to the IMF for assistance, and economic reforms were introduced to revive the economy.

Since the reforms in 1991, the Department of Industrial Policy and Promotion Ministry of Commerce and Industry has continued to amend the policies regarding FDI. Many industries now allow a hundred percent foreign ownership, including for instance defence, yet still excluding certain sectors such as banking and insurance much like China. Furthermore, the bureaucratic procedure for obtaining a license to operate was made simpler by making automatic approvals possible. When approval is needed, a deadline provides for speedy processing (Consolidated FDI Policy, 2017). Liberalisation has had a staggering impact on the level of FDI inflows, starting at modest \$200 million in 1990, rising to \$44.459 billion in 2016 (World Bank, 2016a). According to UNCTAD (2017a, 9), India is the third most prospective host economy for MNCs for the upcoming three years. However, as was discussed earlier, a prospective investment climate is not the single determinant for FDI. The political regime and its impact on FDI will be discussed below, in parallel to China.

While the change in policy climate has made a major contribution to the increase in FDI inflows, an additional factor was the shift in attitudes of the policy makers. Rodrik & Subramanian (2004) and DeLong (2001) argue that the change in the attitudes of the ruling politicians contributed towards India finally opening to international trade. On the other hand, N.K. Singh, an Indian politician who was involved in making the reforms of the 80's and 90s, directly challenged those arguments – "Even today, more than change in policies we are struggling with change in attitude.

The first reflex of any observer of Indian economy or potential foreign investor would be that while policies may not be so bad it is the attitude particularly of official ones which becomes the Achilles heel" (Quoteed in Panagariya, 2004, 4). There may be merit to both sides of the argument. There certainly needed to be a change in the attitudes of the politicians to start implementing the liberal policy reforms in the 80's and 90's, while perhaps partially being pressured by the IMF. However, the attitudes of some politicians and even the populace may continue to favour of more socialist policies.

3.1.2 The Development of Foreign Direct Investment in China

Much like in India, the liberalization of the Chinese economy has been done in a gradual manner. The first attempts to reform the centrally planned economy were led by Deng Xiaoping in 1978. Under Mao's rule, the country followed a strict socialist economic model based on high degree of state ownership and collectivization. After Mao's death, Deng presented a plan for reforms which would not abolish communism, but the economy would be more market-oriented and less government planned and controlled. The reforms were bottom-up in the sense that they were not implemented nation-wide at first. The initial reforms came in waves, the first dismantling the collectivization of agriculture and permitting foreign ventures. The second wave in the 80's and 90's allowed for privatization of some of the industries that had been under government ownership also abandoning control over prices and other protectionist measures. The reforms to further allow privatization and there have been considerable reductions in bureaucracy and barriers to trade.

The impact the reforms have had on the Chinese economy are staggering. Brandt and Rawski (2008) state that the success of the reforms is visible in the fact that the Chinese economy has grown massively, hundreds of millions of Chinese were lifted from poverty, there is competition in most economic sectors and there has been a transition from isolationism to being well integrated in the global markets (21). The Chinese economy has indeed grown to be the second largest in the world (World Bank, 2016b). Furthermore, it is staggering that after having had an extremely closed economy prior to the open door policy reforms, it now attracts third most inflows of FDI in the world (UNCTAD, 2017a, 12), at \$170.557 billion in 2016 (World Bank, 2016a).

As in India, the attitude towards foreign investment has changed drastically. China essentially had no foreign owned firms prior to the 1978 reforms (Wei, 1996, 78). However, the reforms of the late 70's included the adoption of the first ever law concerning FDI in the country, namely the Law on Joint Ventures Using Chinese and Foreign Investment (1979). Since then, the government has amended the law by liberalizing FDI even more. The 2017 amendment allows MNCs to engage in industries that were off-limits before. A few service-based industries were liberated, as well as high tech (National Development and Reform Commission and the Ministry of Commerce of the PRC, 2017) – indicating that China is trying to diversify the investments it is attracting. Currently 43% of all FDI is directed towards the manufacturing sector (Santander Trade Portal, 2017). The reforms are expected to have a stimulating effect on FDI and to be fair, like India, China is one of the most prospective countries for MNCs in the coming years of 2017 to 2019, being second just after the U.S. (UNCTAD, 2017a, 9).

3.2 How are Private Property Protection, Incentives, Credibility and Representation of Interests Facilitated in India and China?

3.2.1 Tangible and Intangible Private Property Protection in India and China

North and Weingast (1989) argued the most important thing for states to attract foreign investment is to provide institutional support for private property protection (PPP). Democracies are said to be well equipped to provide PPP because of the separation of powers, implying an independent judiciary. In India, the original constitution after independence recognized peoples' fundamental right to private property. However, a few years later the fundamental right to property was removed. As per the Land Acquisition Act, the Indian government can acquire land for public use, and in return provide compensation (Ministry of Law and Justice of India, 2013). The Act gives the government the possibility to expropriate and this certainly does not provide much merit to the argument that judiciaries in democracies provide for PPP against unfair government expropriation. As was stated, FDI projects involved large sunk costs, and thus the fear of expropriation is worrisome.

In general, acquiring and using land in India is ridden with bureaucracy, as explained by the International Trade Administration (2017b) – "To establish a business, various government approvals and clearances are required (...) register the land; seek land use permission if the industry is located outside an industrially zoned area; obtain environmental site approval; seek

authorization for electricity and financing; and obtain appropriate approvals for construction plans from the respective state and municipal authorities." Furthermore, according to the WB's Ease of Doing Business Ranking, India performs exceptionally poorly in the determinants of "dealing with construction permits", "registering of property" and "enforcing contracts". The overall ranking for India is 100 out of 190, whereas China has been placed 78th (World Bank, 2017). Hence, due to the fear of expropriation accompanied by the difficulty of acquiring land, it is fair to deduce that the democratic judiciary of India is not capable of providing stable protection of property.

FDI does not only require protection of tangible property, but intangible PPP is equally important. MNCs may have valuable knowledge or patents, which give then a competitive edge in the markets. Hence, Intellectual Property Rights (IPRs) need to be respected in the host country. IPs include patents, trade secrets and copy and trademarks. While India fulfils the minimal requirements for IPs protection as defined by the WTO in The Agreement on Trade-Related Aspects of Intellectual Property Rights (TRIPS), it still struggles in this regard, for instance there is no law to protect trade secrets (The Law Library of Congress, 2015). According to the U.S. Chamber of Commerce's International IP Index, India ranks bottom third in the ranking of 45 countries (2017). It may be difficult to produce comprehensive evaluations as to how valuable are IP assets, but for companies that rely heavily on patents or their brand name, IPRs are vital.

The Indian experience largely refutes the argument, that democratic rule would best provide for private property protection. PPP is not simply achieved by having a separation of powers, nor by an independent judicial body keeping actors in check. Perhaps one of the major factors why India has not been able to catch up in terms of FDI with some of the other BRICS countries, is precisely the ineffective enforcement of the IPRs. Let us next look at China, and how it has facilitated protection of private property.

Before the 2007 Property Law of the People's Republic of China (PRC) came in effect, no codification of property rights existed. Like India, legal expropriation may take place if it is done in the public interest. Furthermore, foreign investors are not eligible to buy real estate in China, only apply for a grant to use it (The State Council of the PRC, 2007). This has caused issues for foreigners – "Foreign companies have complained that Chinese courts have inconsistently protected the legal real property rights of foreigners" (International Trade Administration, 2017a). Hence the argument that expropriation may happen in authoritarian states, does apply in the case

of China. In effect, it has a negative impact on the perception MNCs have regarding the stability and reliability of China, in terms of PPP.

Upon its accession to the WTO in 2001, China also agreed to the implementation of TRIPS. However, like the India, China has had difficulties in enforcing the IPRs for foreign investors. According to the United States Trade Representative (USTR, 2017), one of the problems in China in terms of IPRs is the lax enforcement of sanctions against theft and misuse. Much like India, China has no trade secrets protection agenda and international patents are not fully respected, especially in the pharmaceutical sector (USTR, 2017, 9). When compared to India, China scores much better in terms of IP protection, being the 27th in the IP index ranking list of total 45 countries (U.S. Chamber of Commerce, 2017). Lately China has improved IPR protection, for instance in terms of patents. Godinho and Ferreira (2012, 501) point out that China filed an increasing number of patents. This leads them to believe that China is committed to patent protection to support the innovative sector of the economy. Indeed, in 2013, China initiated policies to diversify the economy and to attract FDI to new sectors. The Made in China 2025 initiative strives for innovation-led and value-added production, more investments in the service sector and quality over quantity (The State Council of the PRC, 2017).

The neo-institutional argument that institutions are best at providing PPP may be questioned for China. The country clearly has authoritarian characteristics and its institutions recognized to be untrustworthy because of the fear of expropriation and lax respect towards international IPR agreements. Nevertheless, the country attracts the highest inflows of FDI in the world. Chen (2015, 62) argues that contracts with local actors help MNCs to work around this issue. MNCs may form Subcontracting Manufacturing Factories (SMFs) with the local actors. The factory will have legal ownership and state-provided property protection because they formally are owned by the Chinese. However, the foreign investors acquire the right to manage the factory through contracts with the locals.

It is fair to assume that there are moral hazards related to such contracts – the local actors may take the investments hostage, especially since the investors have essentially no legal ways to safeguard their assets in this framework. However, Chen (2015, 64) argues, the contracts are rarely relapsed on because of the cultural nuances of China. The culture values long-term relationships with partners and mutual respect is expected. The signing of contracts with provincial actors suggests that MNCs themselves are facilitating PPP through unconventional ways. Hence, the argument

that the state and its institutions would be the most efficient protectors of property is challenged by the experience of MNCs in China. The cultural aspect of this is also quite interesting – it goes to prove that FDI interacts with states in unique ways and is determined by cultural characteristics as well.

3.2.2 The Credibility of China and India as Recipients of Foreign Direct Investment

Credibility of a regime was recognized to be an important issue affecting FDI. One isse affecting credibility is corruption. Corruption carries a normative connotation because it is morally questionable, but it also hampers credibility because it can jeopardize investors' assets and their reputation could be tarnished. On the other hand, corruption facilitates working around a cumbersome democracy and thus, provide for lucrative business opportunities for MNCs. The level of corruption is of great concern in China and India – According to Transparency International the countries ranked the 79th on a list of 176 countries in the Perceived Corruption Index (Transparency International, 2017).

Some studies show that corruption does not take the same form in China and India. According to Ravi (2015, 103) "In China though corruption is pervasive, arbitrariness is low. Whereas in India, arbitrariness is very high and what it means is one is not guaranteed of the result even after paying bribes. That partially explains why India's corruption has a detrimental effect on FDI, whereas in China, it has the opposite effect." Therefore, Chinese corruption itself may be more manageable for the MNCs because they can be assured that after paying the bribes, they can conduct their business as intended. This is not the case in India, if paying bribes does not guarantee the desired outcome.

China has taken a more active role in dealing with corruption. Xi Jingping launched an anticorruption campaign in 2012 and as a result, thousands of officials have been investigated and disciplined (Xinhua News, 2017). The motivations of this policy may be both political and economic in nature. In all likelihood, it attempts to improve the tarnished reputation of the Party, control officials that have accumulated too much power and to improve the economy. The success of the campaign may be questioned as the "disciplinary" actions have been taken mostly against Party officials and not across the board, for instance businessmen and lower officials such as the police. The campaign has done little to target the root of the problem, and without doing so, corruption will continue to occur. What adds injury to the issue is the fact that there is no watchdog in China to expose corrupt acts, since the media are heavily controlled by the state. While the lack of the fourth estate in not surprising because of China's authoritarian regime, democratic India is not doing much better. According to Freedom House (2017), Indian journalists face legal and violent threats, and their work is at times heavily censored. The press is only partially free. Furthermore, Indian politicians use the media actively to promote their cause and harming opponents, which renders the news outlets biased and of questionable trust.

3.2.3 The Incentives Provided by India and China

Theories argued that authoritarian regimes can provide more incentives for MNCs, because they are not constrained by the electorate to find a balance between foreign and domestic interest. China has been very successful in offering incentives for foreign investors, in the form of Special Economic Zones (SEZs). The SEZs are areas with more relaxed economic and financial regulations compared to the rest of the country. They are locally and not centrally managed, thus also decentralizing the economic responsibilities of the state. It should be noted that the SEZs vary greatly according to what kind of policies they utilize and which industries they specialise in. Nevertheless, it has been argued (Zeng, 2011) that SEZs have enabled the miraculous economic growth of China since they were established in the 80's in par with the other Open Door reforms.

The zones are pragmatic in the sense that when they were first established, it was to test liberal policies without completely opening the Chinese markets to international trade. The incentives include a high degree of PPP, lower corporate taxes accompanied by various tax breaks depending on the industry, and foreign ownership and commercial use of land is allowed. Wang (2013, 135) showed that the introduction of the SEZs has increased per capita FDI by 21 percent, hence the incentives has worked well. It is difficult to estimate the actual percentage of FDI that flows into the SEZs, but some estimate it to be around 50 percent of the total FDI inflows into China (Zeng, 2011, 14).

The SEZs and MNCs engaging in them have created employment and brought capital to China. This challenges the idea that when authoritarian countries resort to very competitive incentives to attract MNCs, they neglect the interests of the domestic populace. Furthermore, since China has implemented the incentives only in carefully chosen geographical zones, the domestic actors would not be exposed to the extremely competitive terms in other areas of the country. On the other hand, while there has been criticism towards the SEZs for instance in terms of wage levels

and working conditions, the fact remains that for instance Shenzen has grown from a small market town into a major production hub.

Many countries, India included, have looked to the example of China when setting up their own SEZs. India announced its SEZ policy in 2000, although there had been Export Processing Zones (EPZs) already in the 1960's. The EPZs had largely failed to encourage exports and the state decided to turn to SEZs. The Indian SEZs provide very low tax rates, exemptions and generous tax holidays (The Ministry of Commerce and Industry in India, 2017). FDI activities have concentrated only in a few regions – "The top six states namely Maharashtra, Delhi, Karnataka, Gujarat, TN Tamil Nadu and AP Andhra Pradesh have accounted for 70% of total FDI inflow during 2008-09 to 2011-12, whereas Maharashtra and Delhi together had more than 50% of FDI inflows" (Chakraborty et al., 2017, 626). These are the regions with the most SEZs as well. Hence, as in China, also the Indian SEZs have been successful in attracting FDI.

The Indian SEZs have struggled to reach the same level of success as the Chinese have. Some of the problems have been their concentration in only a few areas and their inefficient management. Rahoof and Arul (2016) point out that the benefits from SEZs, namely rise in employment, development of infrastructure and economic growth, only take place in the few states which host the SEZs (46). This is of course a difficult issue to tackle, sine FDI will continue to flow to the areas with the best infrastructure and tax incentives provided by the SEZs, thus leaving other areas less developed. This inevitably leads to discontent within the populace. Furthermore, Wysoczanska (2013) argued that the inefficient management of the Indian SEZs has been due to its political nature – the SEZs are managed centrally by the government, and the local officials have less power and responsibility. On the other hand, the Chinese central government largely gave local actors the power to manage the zones (Wysoczanska, 2013). It is fair to expect that if the management of the zones is from afar, efficiency suffers.

The quest to attract FDI has led both countries to use similar policies for the same ends. In this sense, regime type becomes largely irrelevant. China seems to have been more successful in implementing the policies to achieve economic growth and to attract FDI, however it also has advantages in terms of time. India turned to SEZs only in 2000, whereas China had been implementing the approach for a few decades by then. Furthermore, perhaps the decision-making in the authoritarian regime has provided for flexible and quick implementation of policies, whereas in India bureaucracy slows down the multi-levelled decision-making and there are numerous

competing voices which would stand to lose if reforms were to be made in the management of the zones.

Also cultural and ethnic ties play a role in making China and India attractive to investors. This is apparent when one looks at the origins of FDI inflows. In China, the top ten investors include Hong Kong, South Korea, Taiwan and Japan (Invest in China, 2017). The countries are within the same region and Taiwan and Hong Kong also ethnic and linguistic ties with China. It is fair to assume these countries have a cultural understanding of China and this gives them a competitive edge over rivals. On the other hand, what naturally would make dealings in India easier for foreign investors is the official status of English language. Regional FDI is not as strong in India as it is in China, but for instance investments from the UK amount to 15 percent of the FDI inflows (Reserve Bank of India, 2016). The long historical ties between the two countries has no doubt led to cultural and ethnic determinants of FDI, regime type most likely has no effect on whether MNCs choose to invest. If the company is familiar with the operational side of business and can use this knowledge to its advantage, the political regime most likely makes no difference.

3.2.4 The Representation of Interests in India and China

The final condition which affected MNCs' decision to invest according to regime type was the ability of investors to express their interests in the host country amongst competing voices. According to theory, democracies hamper the efforts of the MNCs to influence because there are multiple channels and actors affecting the decision-making process. This can certainly be the case in India, being the largest democracy in the world with a population of 1.3 billion. For the time being, the government of Modi has strongly supported FDI friendly policies, as is apparent in the reforms he has introduced lately. However, the popularity of Modi's government is not guaranteed and was contested in 2016, when tens of millions of workers from the public sector joined in a general strike against his proposals to liberalize markets further (Safi, M. in The Guardian, 2016). As India is democratically governed, there is political volatility since the preferences of the electorate can quickly turn to more protectionist policies and consequently, lead the MNCs to be worse off.

One of the issues in India is the unequal distribution of FDI. Investment has been concentrated in clusters, mostly in the regions hosting the SEZs. As a result, the regions which have been less fortunate are also less open to the idea of liberalising markets to promote FDI. The politicians from these regions are myopic in the sense that they do not wish to see the long-term benefits FDI has. They are more concerned with being elected and hence, pressure the government to either redistribute the wealth or support more protectionist policies. Additionally, interest groups such as the Trade Unions, can pressure the government as was apparent in the 2016 general strike. Fighting off competing voices will certainly slow down the process of introducing reform. The long-awaited tax reform introduced in 2017 waited for ratification for almost two decades. Therefore, the argument that the competing voices in democracy hamper MNCs' efforts is sound when it comes to India.

On the other hand, being an authoritarian country, China does not in a similar sense have to balance the domestic interests with those of the MNCs'. Since the opening of the country to the global markets, China has pragmatically supported economic development by means of international trade and investment. If the country continues to hold this in high value, MNCs need not worry that the policy climate would change, even if domestic actors would want that. However, that just like domestic interests may be repressed by the regime, MNCs might also have a difficult time influencing the regime. Jensen (2006) pointed out that foreign lobbying is virtually impossible through formal mechanisms in China (79). However, in more recent years, foreign companies in China have turned to European and US interest groups, and they have lobbied for the collective interest of the MNCs, even though by law foreign industry associations are illegal (Weil, 2017, 2).

Given that there is virtually no history of interest group activity or lobbying in China, it is fair to expect that MNCs cannot effectively utilize their western-style lobbying schemes in the country. Therefore, it also makes more sense for the MNCs to collectively turn towards larger lobbying groups that may be more familiar with the Chinese lobbying culture and thus, have a fighting chance to advocate some of their policy goals. Weil concludes her research by saying that it is virtually impossible to know what is the degree to which the foreign lobbyists affect Chinese policymakers, because everything happens behind closed doors (2017, 236). However, the fact remains that China has started to listen to the international community more, as it has applied for instance stricter IPRs rules after its accession to the WTO.

CONCLUSIONS

The aim of this paper was to analyse the theoretical and empirical studies which have attempted to conceptualize the relationship between FDI and democratic and authoritarian regimes, to answer the research question of what type of political regime supports and attracts FDI more. The theories were shown to be inconclusive as they provided equally convincing arguments for both sides of the discussion. Some theories supported the idea that democracy provides for a transparent and credible investment climate, but simultaneously, many theorists argued that authoritarian regimes are equally capable of providing a stable investment climate. As the theoretical work did not provide a conclusive answer, the empirical studies were consulted. They however, were equally inconclusive in their findings.

Since we could not find an answer in the existing literature, an alternative way to study the subject matter was proposed – a detailed case study. Most-similar case design was applied to study China and India, justified by the fact that they display many similarities in terms of economic and geographical size, historical development of markets and keen interest in attracting FDI, while differing in terms of the independent variable of interest. The hypothesis was that a case comparison would show how the relationship between FDI and regime type take shape in the two countries, one being the largest democracy in the world and the other a one party authoritarian state.

The main result of the case study was that the relationship between FDI and regime type is more complicated than what the theoretical and empirical literature has suggested. While a more comprehensive methodological critique has been developed in a separate paper (Konki, 2017), as a summary it can be stated that it has failed to account for the spatial, cultural and time-sensitive details which affect FDI. A comparative case study of China and India showed that the relationship between FDI and political regime is not only determined by whether they are authoritarian or democratic, but also by historical, economic and cultural factors.

A key finding of this paper is that what matters most in the case of China and India is which policies they have introduced and how the policies have succeeded in the framework of their political regimes. It became apparent that authoritarian China has been more successful in introducing a policy framework that foreign investors find attractive. This is not only apparent in the fact that China has attracted significantly more investment, but also in the way the two regimes have applied similar policies, such as the SEZs. China has implemented those more successfully when compared to India. This finding brings a new perspective to the scholarly discussion. While many of the theories have chosen to study regime, more attention should be given to study policy and how it affects FDI.

Furthermore, it is fair to say that in addition, this paper may provide policy advice to developing countries. Good Governance is often equated with liberal democracy and the idea is being exported from the west to the rest. For instance, the IMF bases its loans on conditionality, which essentially requires governments to adopt more democratic and liberal policies. It is believed that this ensures the sustainability of the economic stability and growth. However, as the Chinese experience showed, Good Governance policies of western design are not the only way to achieve economic growth nor to attract FDI. After all, foreign investment does not only flow to countries which have good governance in line with western views. Democratic institutions do not automatically mean successful policies for fostering FDI, and thus, the idea of Good Governance leading to sustainable economic growth may be challenged as well.

It was already suggested that more studies should be conducted on how FDI functions with different policies, and how said policies are implemented and constrained by political regimes. This would give a more comprehensive understanding of how countries can attract FDI. Furthermore, it is also suggested that more research should be done concerning hybrid regimes and FDI. This would take into account the fact that regimes and not static either – there is no single archetype of democracy of autocracy. Theorists cannot escape their subjectivity when they construct their theories and models, and this subjectivity also relates to how they have categorised states and regimes. For instance, the normative idea that democracy is intrinsically good may cloud the judgement of some and they will have a hard time remaining objective in their arguments. However, if the starting point for the study is that the regime type itself is an uncategorizable hybrid regime, there are less assumptions made when studying the subject matter. The existing literature is very polarised to discuss the pros and cons found in democracies or in autocracies – what about the regimes which fall somewhere in the middle?

LIST OF REFERENCES

Books

- Brandt, L., Rawski, T. G. (2008). *China's Great Economic Transformation*. New York: Cambridge University Press.
- Dunning, J. H., & Lundan, S. M. (2008). *Multinational Enterprises and the Global Economy*. (Second Edition). Northampton: Edward Elgar Publishing.
- Dörrenbächer, C., Geppert, M. (2017). *Multinational Corporations and Organization Theory: Post Millennium Perspectives*. Bingley: Emerald Publishing Limited.
- Graham, E. M. (2000). *Fighting the Wrong Enemy: Antiglobal Activists and Multinational Enterprises.* Washington, DC: Institute for International Economics.
- Jensen, N. M. (2006). *Nation-States and the Multinational Corporation: A political Economy of Foreign Direct Investment*. (Third printing). New Jersey: Princeton University Press.
- Jessup, D. (1999). *Developing Country Democracies' Declining Share of Trade and Investment Markets*. Washington, DC: The New Economy Information Service.
- Vernon, R. (1971). Sovereignty at Bay: The Transnational Spread of U.S. Enterprises. London: Longman.
- Weil, S. (2017). Lobbying and Foreign Interests in Chinese Politics. Brussels: Macmillan.

Articles

- Alfaroa, L., Chandab, A., Kalemli-Ozcanc, S., Sayek, S. (2004). FDI and Economic Growth: The Role of Local Financial Markets. – *Journal of International Economics*, Vol. 64, Issue 1, 89-112.
- Chakraborty, T., Gundimeda, H., Kathuria, V. (2017). Have the Special Economic Zones Succeeded in Attracting FDI? Analysis for India. – *Theoretical Economic Letters*. Vol. 7, 623-642.
- Chen, W. (2015). Arbitrage for Property Rights: How Foreign Investors Create Substitutes for Property Institutions in China. – *Washington International Law Journal Association*. Vol. 24, No. 1, 47-97.
- De Soysa, I., Oneal, J. R. (1999). Boon or Bane? Reassessing the Productivity of Foreign Direct Investment. *American Sociological Review*, Vol. 64, No. 5, 766-782.
- Godinho, M., M., Ferreira, V. (2012). Analyzing the Evidence of an IPR Take-Off in China and India. *Research Policy*, Vol. 41, Issue 2, 499-511.

- Jakobsen, J., De Soysa, I. (2006). Do Foreign Investors Punish Democracy? Theory and Empirics, 1984–2001. *KYKLOS*, Vol. 59, No. 3, 383-410.
- Li, G., Resnick, A. (2003). Reversal of Fortunes: Democratic Institutions and Foreign Direct Investment Inflows to Developing Countries – *International Organization*, Vol. 57, 175-211.
- Milner, H., Kubota, K. (2005). Why the Move to Free Trade? Democracy and Trade Policy in the Developing Countries. *International Organization*. Vol. 59, 107–143.
- Moon, C. (2015). Foreign Direct Investment, Commitment Institutions, and Time Horizon: How Some Autocrats Do Better than Others. – *International Studies Quarterly*, Vol. 59, 344– 356.
- North, D., Weingast, B. (1989). Constitutions and Commitment: The Evolution of Institutions Governing Public Choice in Seventeenth-Century England. – *The Journal of Economic History*, Vol. 49, No. 4, 803-832.
- O'Donnell, G. (1978). Reflections on the Patterns of Change in the Bureaucratic-Authoritarian State. *Latin American Research Review*, Vol. 13, No. 1, 3-38.
- Olson, M. (1993). Dictatorship, Democracy, and Development. *The American Political Science Review*, Vol. 87, No. 3, 567-576.
- O'Neal, J., R. (1994). The Affinity of Foreign Investors for Authoritarian Regimes. *Political Research Quarterly*, Vol. 47, Issue 3, 565-588.
- Rahoof., A., Arul, P. G. (2016). An Evaluation of Special Economic Zones Performance Post SEZs Act 2005. – Universal Journal of Industrial and Business Management. Vol. 4, No. 2. 44-52.
- Ravi, S., P. (2015). Does Corruption in a Country Affect the Foreign Direct Investment? A Study of Rising Economic Super Powers China and India. – Open Journal of Social Sciences. Vol. 3, 99-104.
- Safi, M. (2016). Tens of Millions of Indian Workers Strike in Fight for Higher Wages. *The Guardian*. September 2016.
- Wang, J. (2013). The Economic Impact of Special Economic Zones: Evidence from Chinese Municipalities. – Journal of Development Economics. Vol. 101, 133-147.
- Wei, S. (1996). Foreign Direct Investment in China: Sources and Consequences. Financial Deregulation and Integration in East Asia, NBER-EASE, Vol. 5, 77-105.

Electronic sources

- Central Intelligence Agency (CIA). (2017a). Country Comparison: Population. Accessible: <u>https://www.cia.gov/library/publications/the-world-factbook/rankorder/2119rank.html</u>, 16 November 2017
- Central Intelligence Agency (CIA). (2017b). Country Comparison: Stock of Direct Foreign Investment – At Home. Accessible: <u>https://www.cia.gov/library/publications/the-world-factbook/rankorder/2198rank.html</u>, 29 October 2017
- Government of India, Department of Industrial Policy and Promotion Ministry of Commerce and Industry. (2017). Consolidated FDI Policy Circular of 2017. Accessible: <u>http://dipp.nic.in/foreign-direct-investment/foreign-direct-investment-policy</u>, 21 November 2017
- International Monetary Fund. (2005). The IMF's Approach to Promoting Good Governance and Combating Corruption – A Guide. Accessible: <u>http://www.imf.org/external/np/gov/guide/eng/index.htm</u>, 29 November 2017
- International Trade Administration. (2017a). China- 5- Protection of Property Rights. Accessible: <u>https://www.export.gov/article?id=China-Protection-of-Property-Rights</u>, 22 November 2017
- International Trade Administration. (2017b). India 5-Protection of Property Rights Accessible: <u>https://www.export.gov/apex/article2?id=India-Protection-of-Property-Rights</u>, 22 November 2017
- Invest in China. (2017). News Release of National Assimilation of FDI From January to November 2016. Accessible: <u>http://www.fdi.gov.cn/1800000121_49_4473_0_7.html?lien_externe_oui=Continue</u> 25 November 2017
- Law Library of Congress. (2015). Protection of Trade Secrets: India. Accessible: <u>https://www.loc.gov/law/help/tradesecrets/india.php</u>, 22 November 2017
- Ministry of Commerce and Industry in India. (2017). Special Economic Zones in India. Accessible: <u>http://www.sezindia.nic.in/about-introduction.asp</u> 26 November 2017
- Ministry of Law and Justice of India. (2013). Land Acquisition Act. Accessible: <u>http://indiacode.nic.in/acts-in-pdf/302013.pdf</u> 22 November 2017
- National Development and Reform Commission and the Ministry of Commerce of the People's Republic of China. (2017). Catalogue of Industries for Guiding Foreign Investment (Revision 2017). Accessible: <u>http://www.fdi.gov.cn/1800000121_39_4851_0_7.html</u>, 30 October 2017
- Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development. (OECD). (2017). Foreign Direct Investment Flows. Accessible: <u>https://data.oecd.org/fdi/fdi-flows.htm#indicator-chart</u>, 17 November 2017

- Reserve Bank of India. (2016). Census on Foreign Liabilities and Assets of Indian Direct Investment Companies 2015-16 – Data Release. Accessible: <u>https://rbi.org.in/Scripts/PublicationsView.aspx?id=17402</u> 27 November 2017
- Santander Trade Portal. (2017). China: Foreign Investment. Accessible: <u>https://en.portal.santandertrade.com/establish-overseas/china/foreign-investment</u> 20 November 2017
- The Freedom House. (2017). Freedom of the Press 2017: India. Accessible: <u>https://freedomhouse.org/report/freedom-press/2017/india</u> 25 November 2017
- The State Council: The People's Republic of China. (2017). Made in China 2025. Accessible: <u>http://english.gov.cn/2016special/madeinchina2025/</u> 23 November 2017
- The State Council: The People's Republic of China. (2007). Property Law of the People's Republic of China. Accessible: <u>http://english.gov.cn/services/investment/2014/08/23/content_281474982978047.htm</u>, 22 November 2017
- Transparency International. (2017). Corruption Perceptions Index 2016. Accessible: <u>https://www.transparency.org/news/feature/corruption_perceptions_index_2016</u> 25 November 2017
- United Nations Economic and Social Commission for Asia and the Pacific. (2009). What is Good Governance? Accessible: <u>http://www.unescap.org/resources/what-good-governance</u>, 29 November 2017
- United Nations Conference on Trade and Development (UNCTAD). (1999). Foreign Direct Investment and Development. Accessible: <u>http://unctad.org/en/Docs/psiteiitd10v1.en.pdf</u>, 29 November 2017
- United Nations Conference on Trade and Development (UNCTAD). (2017a). World Investment Report 2017. Accessible: <u>http://unctad.org/en/PublicationsLibrary/wir2017_en.pdf</u>, 17 November 2017
- United Nations Conference on Trade and Development (UNCTAD). (2017b). Why Do Not Data on Global FDI Inflows and Outflows Match with Each Other? Accessible: <u>http://unctad.org/en/Pages/DIAE/Frequently%20Asked%20Questions/Why-dont-data-on-global-FDI-inflows-and-outflows-match-with-each-other.aspx</u>, 13 November 2017
- United States Trade Representative. (2017). 2016 Report to Congress on China's WTO Compliance. Accessible: <u>https://ustr.gov/sites/default/files/2016-China-Report-to-Congress.pdf</u>, 22 November 2017
- U.S. Chamber of Commerce. (2017). International Intellectual Property Index. Accessible: <u>http://www.theglobalipcenter.com/ipindex2017/</u>, 22 November 2017
- World Bank. (WB). (2017). Economy Rankings: Ease of Doing Business. Accessible: <u>http://www.doingbusiness.org/rankings</u>, 22 November 2017

- World Bank (WB). (2016a). Foreign Direct Investment, Net Inflows (BoP, Current US\$). Accessible: <u>https://data.worldbank.org/indicator/BX.KLT.DINV.CD.WD</u>, 29 October 2017
- World Bank (WB). (2016b). Gross Domestic Product Ranking Table. Accessible: <u>https://data.worldbank.org/data-catalog/GDP-ranking-table</u>, 16 November 2017
- Xinhua Net. (2017). Factbook: Seven Facts of China's Anti-Corruption Campaign. Accessible: <u>http://news.xinhuanet.com/english/2017-07/04/c_136416939.htm</u> 25 November 2017

Other Sources

- Davis, G., Shomade, S. (2004). Democracy and Foreign Direct Investment: Evaluating the Rates of Return and Type of Government. Annual Meeting of the American Political Science Association.
- DeLong, J. B. (2001). India Since Independence: An Analytical Growth Narrative. Princeton University Press.
- Panagariya, A. (2004). India in the 1980's and 1990's: A Triumph of Reforms. IMF Working Paper 04/43.
- Rodrik D., Subramanian, A. (2004). From "Hindu Growth" to Productivity Surge: The Mystery of the Indian Growth Transition. IMF Working Paper 04/77.
- The Law of the People's Republic of China on Joint Ventures Using Chinese and Foreign Investment, adopted by The Second Session of the Fifth National People's Congress, July 1, 1979 (effective July 8, 1979).
- Wysoczanska, K. (2013). Why Has FDI Followed Different Paths in China and India? China Policy Institute: Analysis.
- Zeng, D., Z. (2011). How Do Special Economic Zones and Industrial Clusters Drive China's Rapid Development? The World Bank Policy Research Working Paper.